D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	1. BA	ASIC FACTS)	
	2. PR	OCEDURAL HISTORY4	ŀ	
E.	ARGU	JMENT6	5	
	1.	Standards on Summary Judgment7	7	
	2.	The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Applied the Boundary By Common GrantorDoctrine8	3	
	3.	The Court of Appeals Should Not Have Trebled Non-Economic Damages Under the Timber Trespass Statute		
	4.	Matichuk is Entitled to a New Trial on Damages13	,	
F.	CONC	LUSION17	7	
Certifi	cate of	Service		
Apper	ndix			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES CASES

) . •

Birchler v. Castello Land Co. Inc., 133 Wn. 106, 942 P.2d 968 (1997)7, 12, 17
Fralick v. Clark County, 22 Wn. App. 156, 589 P.2d 273 (1978)
Grays Harbor County v. Bay City Lumber Co., 47 Wn.2d 879, 289 P.2d 975 (1955)12
Hill v. GTE Directories Sales Corp., 71 Wn. App. 132, 856 P.2d 746 (1993) 15-16
Houplin v. Stein, 72 Wn.2d 131, 431 P.2d 998 (1967)11
Kronawetter v. Tomoshan, Inc., 14 Wn. App. 820, 545 P.2d 1230 (1976)
Levien v. Fiala, 79 Wn. App. 294, 902 P.2d 170 (1995)
Marincovich v. Tarabochia, 114 Wn,2d 271, 787 P.2d 562 (1990)7
Sedwick v. Gwinn, 73 Wn. App. 879, 873 P.2d 258 (1994)7
Strom v. Arcorace, 27 Wn.2d 478, 178 P.2d 959 (1947)9
Weatherbee v. Gustafson, 64 Wn. App. 128, 822 P.2d 1257 (1992)7, 10
Winans v. Ross, 35 Wn. App. 238, 666 P.2d 908 (1983)

STATUTES AND COURT RULES

CR 56(c)	
CR 59(a)	
RCW 4.76.030	
RCW 64.04.010	
RCW 64.12.030	

A. <u>IDENTITIES OF PETITIONERS</u>.

.

Petitioners in this case are Robert and Jane Doe Matichuk, husband and wife, and their company, Blaine Investments, LLC. Each of these petitioners was a defendant in the underlying action, *Pendergrast v. Matichuk, et al.*, Whatcom County Cause No. 10-2-00528-1. Each of them was also a respondent/cross appellant in the Court of Appeals, Division One, under Cause No. 71726-0-I.

B. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>.

Petitioners seek review of the Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division One, in this matter, issued August 31, 2015. A copy of the decision is attached in the Appendix.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>.

This case presents the following issues for review:

1. Was the "boundary by common grantor doctrine" incorrectly applied in this case, when there is no evidence of any meeting of the minds between the grantor and the original grantees that the property line should be moved to align with a fence on the property, and when the parcel at issue was vacant at all times material to that determination?

2. Was the boundary by common grantor doctrine incorrectly applied in this case, when the deed for the property containing the disputed area provided specific measurements for the area being conveyed, provided no reference to the fence at issue, and when the use of the fence as a boundary would have reduced the specific dimensions conveyed by the deed?

3. Was the boundary by common grantor doctrine incorrectly applied in this case, when the facts underlying the application of the doctrine were disputed, and were based on the activities of the property owners *after* sale, and not based on a "meeting of the minds" with the original grantor at the

time of sale?

4. May a plaintiff recover treble damages for noneconomic harm under RCW 64.12.030, the timber trespass statute?

5. Should noneconomic damages be awarded based on a multiplier of the underlying economic damages upon which they are based?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

1. Basic Facts.

Plaintiff Pendergrast filed this action on February 26, 2010, against defendant Robert Matichuk and his wife, claiming title to a strip of land fully within the tract of land that Matichuk purchased in 2006. [CP 9] Two months later, plaintiff recorded on defendants' property a lis pendens, providing record notice of plaintiff's claim to the small strip of land. [CP 22]

Prior to acquisition by the parties to this suit, the Pendergrast and Matichuk parcels were each owned as separate parcels by Tali and Cyrus Conine. A home was located on the Pendergrast parcel; *the Matichuk parcel was vacant*.

The Matichuks acquired their parcel from the Conines on April 25, 2006. [CP 323-26] The legal description in the deed specifically provided that Conine conveyed to Matichuk the "south 75 feet of Lot 30, Block 5 of Perley's Replat" in the City of Blaine. [CP 331] Matichuks intended to develop a condominium project on the vacant lot. Prior to purchase, Bob Matichuk noted the dimensions of the lot as contained in its legal description, and paced those dimensions on the lot to confirm the lot's dimensions. [CP 53] Finding the parcel, as described in the legal description, suitable for their needs, the Matichuks went forward with the purchase. The conveyance documents

in no way mentioned the old, meandering wooden fence separating the Matichuk property from what would become the Pendergrast property. [CP 323-326]

On September 18, 2006, Pendergrast acquired her adjoining parcel from the Conines. [CP 319-322] The deed through which Pendergrast took title provided a legal description which made no reference to the fence along the boundary with Matichuk. [CP 319] Pendergrast had no discussion with Conine, the seller, during her purchase transaction. [CP 329-330]

At the time each party purchased its respective parcel, a fence existed between the two parcels, located entirely within the Matichuk property. [*See* Appendix 2] Near the fence, and within the disputed area, was a large tree with an old treehouse. Pendergrast used the fenced area as a yard space from her purchase in 2006 until 2009. [RP 41, ln. 21]

After acquiring their property, the Matichuks began their efforts to develop their condominium project. On September 11, 2008, the City of Blaine approved Matichuks' plans for a fourplex on the property. [Trial Exhibit 5] The Matichuks subsequently revised their site plan to create two duplex buildings. That revised site plan was approved by the City of Blaine on August 24, 2009. [Trial Exhibit 4]

When the time for construction of the condominium project was approaching, on January 29, 2009, Matichuk wrote to Pendergrast, informing her of his intention to remove the fence and install a new fence on the boundary line based upon the legal description. [Trial Exhibit 10] Several weeks later, on April 24, 2009, Pendergrast, through an attorney, wrote to seller Conine, informing the seller of the Matichuks' plans, and claiming misrepresentation in her sales transaction. [CP 329-330] The letter in no way referred to any "boundary" established at the fence line by Conine as common grantor.

On April 21, 2009, also wrote to Matichuk, asking him not to move the fence. [Trial Exhibit 9] Pendergrast took no other action to protect the rights she claimed to have. She did not seek any sort of injunction to stop relocation of the fence.

Thereafter, prior to the commencement of construction, Matichuk removed the old fence and replaced it with a new one along the property line as established by the legal description for the Matichuk lot. Matichuk also removed the old tree that was within his property based on the legal description. [*See* Trial Exhibit 20, p. 1]

On November 10, 2009, the City of Blaine issued a building permit for the southerly duplex building. [Trial Exhibit 2] Construction of the building foundation began a few days thereafter. Months later, on February 26, 2010, Pendergrast, through new counsel, filed this action. [CP 9] At no time in this litigation did Pendergrast seek any kind of injunction to stop construction of the condominium project. Final inspection of the southerly building occurred on March 30, 2011.

2. Procedural History.

Plaintiff Pendergrast filed this action on February 26, 2010. [CP 9] Two months later, plaintiff recorded against defendants' property a lis pendens, providing record notice of plaintiff's claim to the small strip of land. [CP 22]

On December 21, 2012, the Whatcom County Superior Court, Judge Steven J. Mura, considered cross-motions for summary judgment. The court dismissed plaintiff's claim to the disputed property under her boundary by agreement theory, and granted plaintiff summary judgment on her claim of boundary by common grantor. Written orders were entered by the court on January 4, 2013. [CP 81 (dismissing boundary by agreement claim; CP 84 (granting plaintiff summary judgment on boundary by common grantor)]

On July 5, 2013, plaintiff amended her complaint to add claims for trespass, timber trespass, unlawful detainer and ejectment. [CP 108] Plaintiff also added as a party Blaine Properties, LLC, an entity owned by the Matichuks to which the Matichuk property had been transferred. [Trial Exhibit 12]

Beginning on January 29, 2014, Judge Deborra Garrett presided over a jury trial related to plaintiff's claims of trespass, timber trespass, unlawful detainer and ejectment against the Matichuks, Blaine Properties, and others. The jury was asked to decide these issues from the premise that the court had already ruled in favor of Pendergrast on summary judgment on the boundary by common grantor doctrine, and therefore for purposes of plaintiff's monetary claims, the jury was to treat the disputed property at issue as belonging to Pendergrast. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury awarded Pendergrast damages against Matichuks and Blaine Properties LLC on her trespass claims, including \$5200 for economic loss, and \$75,000 (or more than fourteen times the economic verdict) for non-economic damages. As to timber trespass, for the removal of the single, old tree, the jury awarded plaintiff \$3310 against defendants Matichuk for her economic damages, and \$40,000 (or more than twelve times the economic verdict) for non-economic damages. [CP 203]

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment were entered in favor of Pendergrast and against Matichuk and Blaine Properties, on February 27, 2014. [CP 221, 238] On March 10, 2014, Matichuk filed a motion for a new trial on the non-economic damages claims. [CP 370] On March 28, 2014, the court denied the motion. [CP 266]

On March 28, 2014, Pendergrast appealed the court's refusal to treble the non-economic damages claims under the timber trespass statute. [CP 268] Matichuk timely cross-appealed on

March 31, 2014, contesting the initial order granting Pendergrast summary judgment on liability, and contesting the damages awarded by the jury. [CP 376]

On August 31, 2015, Division One of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's decision relating to trebling of plaintiff's noneconomic damages under RCW 64.12.030, and affirmed the trial court's judgment in all other respects. Matichuk timely requests that the Supreme Court grant review of the case to reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals in all respects.

E. <u>Argument</u>.

This case decides the ownership of a disputed strip of land between two adjoining parcels in Blaine, Whatcom County, Washington. Division One concluded that plaintiff Pendergrast owned the disputed strip *by operation of law* under the "boundary by common grantor" doctrine. Division One then upheld the damages awarded by the jury, involving both the value of the strip of land and removal of a single tree. Division One then ordered plaintiff's recovery of noneconomic damages to be trebled under RCW 64.12.030, such that her recovery for defendant's removal of a single old, ornamental tree approaches \$130,000.00.

The Supreme Court should accept review of this case for a number of reasons. First, the published opinion of Division One improperly applies the boundary by common grantor doctrine, as it changes established precedent concerning what actions of the parties are to be considered. As articulated in this case, the boundary by common grantor doctrine no longer requires evidence of a meeting of the minds with the original grantor at the time of sale.

Second, the Supreme Court should accept the case to consider whether noneconomic damages should be trebled under the timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030. The court is asked to

rule on the interpretation of the timber trespass statute, after declining to do so previously in <u>Birchler</u> <u>v. Castello Land Co. Inc.</u>, 133 Wn. 106, 110 n.3, 942 P.2d 968 (1997).

Third, the court should consider whether a jury's noneconomic damages award should be limited in terms of its relationship to the underlying economic recovery.

1. Standards on Summary Judgment.

The trial court established, and the court of appeals affirmed, the liability issues in this case on summary judgment. The standards for entry of summary judgment are well settled: summary judgment is appropriate only when there is *no genuine issue* about any material fact. <u>Marincovich v.</u> <u>Tarabochia</u>, 114 Wn.2d 271, 274, 787 P.2d 562 (1990); CR 56(c). The court must review the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and the motion should be granted only if, from all of the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. <u>Sedwick v. Gwinn</u>, 73 Wn. App. 879, 885, 873 P.2d 258 (1994) <u>quoting Marincovich</u>, 114 Wn.2d at 274. Said differently, the court must examine the evidence *and all reasonable inferences therefrom* in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. <u>Weatherbee v. Gustafson</u>, 64 Wn. App. 128, 131, 822 P.2d 1257 (1992).

Both the trial court and the court of appeals inappropriately adjudicated facts to enter judgment on liability before trial. As shown herein, there were no facts in the record from which the courts could conclude, as a matter of law, that plaintiff Pendergrast was entitled to the disputed strip of land on Matichuk's property. All inferences of fact were to be resolved in favor of the Matichuks, and not Pendergrast. Indeed, there were multiple factual issues resolved by the court of appeals in its decision which required resolution by trial. For that reason alone, the decision of the court of appeals should be reversed.

2. The Court of Appeals Opinion Incorrectly Applied the Boundary By Common Grantor Doctrine.

Conveyances of real property usually must be accomplished by proper conveyance of a deed. RCW 64.04.010. A bona fide purchaser of real property generally is entitled to rely on record title. <u>Levien v. Fiala</u>, 79 Wn. App. 294, 299-300, 902 P.2d 170 (1995). If the law were otherwise, it would impose an almost impossible burden upon a party in that each and every conveyance would have to be investigated beyond the auditor's records for possible error to avoid a claim of inquiry notice.

Washington courts have, in only very limited circumstances, carved exceptions to the statute of frauds to permit coterminous property owners to establish a common boundary other than by deed. The "boundary by common grantor" doctrine is one of those very limited exceptions. The Court of Appeals applied this limited exception to a strip of land that was wholly within the property owned by Matichuks, as provided by the legal description contained in the Matichuk deed, and as confirmed by survey.

The common grantor doctrine has been explained as follows:

A practical location made by the common grantor of the division line between the tracts granted is binding on the grantees *who take with reference to that boundary*. The line established in that manner is presumably the line mentioned in the deed, and no lapse of time is necessary to establish such location, which does not rest on acquiescence in an erroneous boundary, but on the fact that the true location was made, the conveyance in reference to it. *However, for a boundary line established by common grantor to become binding and conclusive on grantees it must plainly appear that the land was sold and purchased with reference to such line, and that there was a meeting of minds as to the identical tract of land to be transferred by the sale. (Emphasis supplied)*

Levien v. Fiala, 79 Wn. App. 294, 301 n.3, 902 P.2d 170 (1995).

Under this principle, a grantor who owns land on both sides of a line he or she has

established as the common boundary is bound by that line. Fralick v. Clark County, 22 Wn. App.

156, 589 P.2d 273 (1978). The line is also binding on grantees if the land was sold and purchased with reference to the line, and there was a meeting of the minds as to the identical tract of land to be transferred by the sale. <u>Kronawetter v. Tomoshan, Inc.</u>, 14 Wn. App. 820, 545 P.2d 1230 (1976).

In this case, there was no evidence in the record that *any* communication between Matichuk and his seller Conine established a boundary that was anything but that contained in the legal description. Matichuk and the seller never met, and the deed documents were based on the recorded legal description. There was nothing in the paperwork to suggest that the fence on the property – which was old and not even built in a straight line – was a manifestation of a boundary.

The court of appeals relied heavily on the fact that Matichuk paced his property before purchase, and left the fence intact for a period of time. Opinion, p. 9. In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, however, the court of appeals was required to resolve all inferences in Matichuk's favor. Clearly, they did not. There were multiple explanations for Matichuk's actions that the court did not even consider. For one, it was clear from the chain of events that Matichuk waited until it was time for construction to move the fence to the deed boundary. His failure to do so at the time of purchase cannot be considered *conclusive* proof of his belief that the fence somehow formed a boundary. Thus, there is absolutely no actual evidence of conduct *at the time of sale* which would indicate to anyone that the fence formed the property line, such that the boundary by common grantor doctrine would be applicable. *See* Fiala, 79 Wn. App. at 301; Strom v. Arcorace, 27 Wn. App. 478, 481, 178 P.2d 959 (1947).

The court of appeals also significantly deviated from the boundary by common grantor doctrine by consideration of actions *after* closing to find a "manifestation of ownership." Through interpretation of its opinion in <u>Winans v. Ross</u>, 35 Wn. App. 238, 666 P.2d 908 (1983), the court

reasoned that *post-purchase* actions can establish a meeting of the minds such that the boundary by common grantor doctrine should apply. In trial of the <u>Winans</u> case, however, the trial court *found as fact* that the properties were purchased with reference to the fence line. *Id.* at 240. Moreover, the <u>Winans</u> court found "substantial evidence" that an agreement existed between the grantor and the original grantee, based on the rebuilding of a fence in the exact location, and a tenant asking permission to use a pond on the other side of the fence line for irrigation. The court then enforced the boundary agreement on Ross, a subsequent purchaser.

Even if <u>Winans</u> can be read to allow after-the-fact activities to manifest an agreement with the original seller, the court of appeals here improperly affirmed summary judgment only after deciding disputed facts. First, *at best* Matichuks' failure to immediately remove the fence at purchase, with nothing more, creates only an *inference* of an agreement between Matichuk and Conine, and is not actual proof of one. The Matichuks are entitled to have all inferences of fact resolved in their favor. <u>Weatherbee</u>, 64 Wn. App. at 131. The court of appeals could not uphold summary judgment on an inference alone.

Nor is there any evidence that when Matichuk and Pendergrast subsequently owned the parcels, they acted in a way to suggest that they agreed that the fence was the boundary. To the contrary, Matichuk informed Pendergrast of his intention to remove the fence and move it to the deeded property line. In response, Pendergrast wrote to Conine, and demanded financial compensation. [CP 339-40] Pendergrast was certainly not acting under a belief of an agreement concerning the fence when she wrote that letter. Even her letter to Matichuk claiming rights to the disputed property merely establishes a factual dispute between the parties, long after they purchased their properties. Moreover, all the evidence demonstrates that the Matichuk property was vacant

during this time period, and Matichuk was working diligently on the planning and permitting for his condominium project, using the legal description of his parcel as the proper boundary. [Trial Exhibits 1-4]

Reduced to its essence, the ruling of the court of appeals contends that the mere existence of a fence, coupled with use of the fence line as the boundary for a short period (when one of the lots was undeveloped and vacant), is enough to create a boundary by the common grantor as a matter of law. This is error. Proof of a meeting of the minds – with no disputed facts – was required.

At best, these facts would suggest a boundary by acquiescence: a fence line may be established as a boundary when there is "sufficient acquiescence" in it to create a boundary, not a barrier. *See, e.g.*, <u>Houplin v. Stoen</u>, 72 Wn.2d 131, 135, 431 P.2d 998 (1967). However, plaintiff never pleaded acquiescence as a theory of recovery. Moreover she could not, as acquiescence must extend for the duration of the adverse possession period. Here, it did not.

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