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

E. ARGUMENT 

Noticeably absent from Matichuk's Petition is any reference, 

recognition, or application of RAP 13.4(b)'s critical standards that must be 

shown to support their extraordinary request for Supreme Court review: 

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A 
petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court 
only: 
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(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution 
of the State of Washington or of the United States is 
involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

None of these considerations have been established by Matichuk. 

1. The Court of Appeals' Affirmation of the 
Trial Court's Granting Pendergrast Title of 
the Disputed Property by Way of Summary 
Judgment Under the Common Grantor 
Doctrine Does Not Conflict With Any 
Existing Law. 

Much ofMatichuk's argument on the common grantor doctrine is a 

complaint that the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that there was not 

an issue of fact that should have prevented the Trial Court from granting 

Pendergrast's Motion for Summary Judgment. This is not a justifiable 

basis to seek Supreme Court review. In fact, Matichuk do not disagree 

that the Court of Appeals referenced and properly applied the critical 

parameters for its review of a decision on summary judgment, nor a 

contention that these parameters are contrary to law. Matichuk have 
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therefore failed to identify any legitimate basis to trigger Supreme Court 

rev1ew. 

Even if the Court of Appeals' substantive determination that there 

was no issue of fact was to be a basis to seek Supreme Court review, there 

is not one single disputed "fact" that Matichuk can identify in relationship 

to the circumstances of each party's acquisition, the existence of the fence, 

the fence's physical occupancy of the entire common boundary line, or the 

parties' recognition of the fence line for occupancy for over three years. 

There is simply not a single dispute between the parties as to these 

controlling facts. 

Matichuk instead contend that the Court of Appeals improperly 

applied the undisputed facts to the boundary by common grantor doctrine, 

"as it changes established precedent concerning what actions of the parties 

are to be considered." Petition, p. 6. According to Matichuk, the Court of 

Appeals' Opinion concluded, inconsistently to precedent, that a "meeting 

of the minds" was no longer required. Id. On the contrary, the Court of 

Appeals specifically recognized the need for a "meeting of the minds" to 

meet the common grantor doctrine: 

Application of the common grantor doctrine presents two 
questions: (1) was there an agreed boundary established 
between the common grantor and original grantee, and 
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(2) if so, would a visual examination ofthe property show 
subsequent purchasers that the deed line no longer 
functioned as the true boundary? 

Opinion, pp. 8-9 (emphasis added) (citing Fralick v. Clark Co., 22 

Wn.App. 156, 160, 589 P.2d 273 (1978)). There is no contention that this 

standard is inconsistent with existing law. 

Matichuk do argue, however, without citation to a single authority, 

that this standard cannot be met by the type of evidence relied upon by the 

two Trial Court judges and Court of Appeals. They first argue that there 

could be no meeting of the minds because neither Matichuk nor 

Pendergrast physically met with the common grantor, Conine. This 

contention was explicitly rejected in Winans v. Ross, 35 Wn.App. 238, 

241, 666 P.2d 908 (1983): 

The Rosses contend there was no proof the Corletts and 
Youngs agreed the fence would be the boundary, because 
the record shows they did not talk about the boundaries at 
the time of sale. We disagree. A formal, or specific, or 
separate contract as to the boundary line between the 
parties is not necessary. 

(citing Thompson v. Bain. 28 Wn.2d 590, 183 P.2d 785 (1947)). Nor is 

there any other case that requires such a physical meeting. There is 

therefore no inconsistency with existing law on this point. 
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They then argue that the "court of appeals [sic] also significantly 

deviated from the boundary by common grantor doctrine by consideration 

of actions after closing to find a 'manifestation of ownership."' Petition, 

pp. 9-10 (emphasis in original). The court in Winans v. Ross, supra, 35 

Wn.App. at 241, also explicitly concluded to the contrary: "An agreement 

or meeting of the minds between the common grantor and original grantee 

may be shown by the parties' manifestations of ownership after the sale." 

(Emphasis added). Matichuk do not cite any authority that holds to the 

contrary. Again, there is no inconsistency with existing law on this point. 

Matichuk then contend that their undisputed recognition of the 

fence line as the property line for three years merely created an 

"inference" of a meeting of the minds, which alone could not support 

summary judgment. Petition, p. 10. Not a single case is cited to support 

this proposition. As the Court of Appeals properly noted: 

Both parties' conduct, from before they purchased until 
Matichuk announced he intended to move the fence, 
showed an understanding that they owned adjacent 
parcels separated by the fence. And a visual examination 
of the property gave notice that the fence functioned as 
the true boundary. The realty listing agreement and seller 
disclosure form further support the conclusion that 
Conine intended to sell the parcels in relation to the 
fence. 
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Opinion, pp. 1 0-11. These are the facts, indeed the precise facts, 

relevant to prove application of the common grantor doctrine. 

In fact, Matichuk's contention that the parties' recognition of the 

fence as the boundary line cannot prove the common grantor doctrine 

directly conflicts with the Supreme Court's ruling in Thompson v. Bain, 

supra, 28 Wn.2d 590. There, the appellant argued that "the fact that the 

appellants occupied up to the fence does not prove, nor is there any other 

proof of, an agreement between the common grantor and the appellants so 

establishing the boundary line." Id. at 592. This Court disagreed: 

The rule as heretofore set out contemplates that the 
boundary line should be established by the grantor and 
that the grantee takes the land in reliance thereon. A 
formal, or specific or separate contract as to the boundary 
line between the parties is not necessary. 

Id. This Court also rejected another Matichuk suggestion that 

application of the common grantor doctrine violates the parol 

evidence rule. I d. at 593. In the end, based upon the same facts 

relied upon here, this Court concluded "that in this case the 

common grantor established an 'on the ground' boundary line 

between the tracts in question that is binding on the common 

grantees. Id. 
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Nor does Matichuk note the additional uncontested evidence relied 

upon by the Trial Court and Court of Appeals to find a meeting of the 

minds, such as the fact that at the time of purchase, R. Matichuk had 

notice and recognized a discrepancy between the deed line and the 

property he measured by pacing the fence, his recognition that the fence 

"appeared to relate to" the adjoining property, and Conine's retention of 

control over the area on the Pendergrast side of the fence for the five 

months she retained ownership after selling to Matichuk. Opinion, pp. 11-

12. The facts relied upon by the Court of Appeals to uphold application of 

the common grantor doctrine, all of which were undisputed, is precisely 

the type of evidence relied upon by every other court that has applied the 

doctrine, and no inconsistency exists. 

2. Trebling of Non-Economic Damages Under RCW 
64.12.030 Is Consistent With Birchler v. Costello 
Land Co., Inc. 

Matichuk next maintain that review should be granted as to the 

Court of Appeals' decision that non-economic damages awarded for a 

timber trespass under RCW 64.12.030 should be trebled. According to 

Matichuk, this ruling should be reviewed, so the Supreme Court can 

"confirm that RCW 64.12.030 does not provide trebling of non-economic 

harms." Petition, p. 12. Matichuk's request is premised exclusively upon 

12 



the contention that such "confirmation" flows from this Court's ruling in 

Birchler v. Castello Land Co., Inc., 133 Wn.2d 106, 111, 942 P .2d 968 

(1997), and therefore the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the 

ruling. Matichuk's contention is incorrect, and in fact, the Court of 

Appeals' decision is based upon a detailed analysis and proper application 

of the ruling in Birchler v. Castello Land Co., Inc., supra. 

RCW 64.12.030 provides as follows: 

Whenever any person shall cut down, girdle, or otherwise 
injure, or carry off any tree, including a Christmas tree as 
defined in RCW 76.48.020, timber, or shrub on the land 
of another person, or on the street or highway in front of 
any person's house, city or town lot, or cultivated 
grounds, or on the commons or public grounds of any city 
or town, or on the street or highway in front thereof, 
without lawful authority, in an action by the person, city, 
or town against the person committing the trespasses or 
any of them, any judgment for the plaintiff shall be for 
treble the amount of damages claimed or assessed. 

(Emphasis added). In Birchler, the trial court ruled that emotional distress 

damages could be awarded on a timber trespass claim under RCW 

64.12.030, and on appeal, Division One of the Court of Appeals agreed. 

However, in doing so, the Court of Appeals concluded that such were 

"segregated" and "distinct" components of damages, and not a component 

of the "statutory treble damages" award. On appeal, this Court first 

recognized that in deciding whether emotional distress damages were 
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recoverable under RCW 64.12.030, it was specifically not deciding 

whether such damages, if allowed, would be trebled because the issue had 

not been properly raised on appeal: 

Although counsel for the homeowners suggested in oral 
argument that the emotional distress damages award 
should have been trebled, we do not reach that issue as 
the homeowners did not seek cross-review on that issue 
in the Court of Appeals, RAP 2.4(a), nor did they raise 
the issue in their Answer to the Petition for Review. RAP 
13.4(d). 

Birchler v. Castello Land Co., Inc., supra, 133 Wn.2d at 110, n. 3. 

However, and importantly, this Court, in affirming the ability to recover 

emotional distress damages, made it clear that such damages were not 

"distinct" from the statutory damages that "shall be trebled" as noted by 

the Court of Appeals, but instead awardable as "damages" under the 

statute. 

In reaching this conclusion, it is true that this Court noted that 

courts had historically interpreted the "damages" recoverable and subject 

to trebling under the statute narrowly: 

RCW 64.12.030 does not precisely articulate the damages 
that are subject to trebling, indicating only that punitive 
damages are available ' [ w ]hen ever any person shall cut 
down, girdle or otherwise injure, or carry off any tree, 
timber or shrub .. .'Our cases have generally confined the 
treble damages remedy to injury to, or removal of, 
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vegetation, although the measure of damages has varied 
by the type of vegetation affected. 

I d. at Ill (emphasis added). It is this last sentence, which is nothing more 

than a recognition of prior opinions, that Matichuk reference to argue that 

this Court in Birchler inherently concluded that non-economic damages 

should not be trebled. Petition, p. 12. Matichuk fail to note, however, that 

after making this generalized observation, this Court then defined the issue 

as to whether "emotional distress damages are recoverable under RCW 

64.12.030." Id. at 112. Nor does Matichuk recognize that in then 

evaluating this issue, this Court first concluded that "damages under RCW 

64.12.030 are not confined exclusively to injury to or destruction of 

vegetation," and thus, it turned to the question of "whether emotional 

distress damages are recoverable under RCW 64.12.030 for a trespass." 

Id. at 115. 

Finally, Matichuk fail to note that in concluding that such damages 

were recoverable, this Court rejected the limiting applications of earlier 

cases and upon which Matichuk now relies: 

Amicus argues that in the absence of explicit language in 
the statute allowing emotional distress damages, 'it would 
be improper to conclude that the legislature intended to 
allow a measure of damages for willful tree trespass that 
was not recoverable at common law at the time the 
Statute was enacted.' Br. of Amicus Curiae at 7. We 
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disagree .... We believe the correct rule is that emotional 
distress damages are recoverable under RCW 64.12.030 
for an intentional interference with property interests such 
as trees and vegetation. 

ld. at 116. Because "non-economic" injury is a "damage" directly 

recoverable under the statute, this Court inherently concluded, contrary to 

Matichuk's assertion, that such damages must be trebled under the clear 

language of the statute. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision, which is 

based upon the Birchler ruling, and the 18 years that have passed with no 

legislative response limiting the type of "damages" recoverable under the 

statute to exclude non-economic damages, is completely consistent with 

this Court's analysis. 

3. The Court of Appeals Followed Proper Standards to 
Refuse to Reverse the Trial Court's Denial of 
Matichuk's Motion for a New Trial or to Reduce 
Damages Under CR 59. 

Finally, Matichuk seek review of the Court of Appeals' refusal to 

reverse the Trial Court's denial of their motion for a new trial or to reduce 

the non-economic damages awarded to Pendergrast. No "conflict" with 

any statute or case law is referenced. Instead, Matichuk merely recite their 

rendition of the "evidence" and ask this Court to step in and reverse the 

Trial Court's ruling. The Supreme Court's jurisdiction is not triggered by 

such a perceived failure by the Court of Appeals. 
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Even if substantively reviewed, there is nothing incorrect about the 

Court of Appeals' decision. The Trial Court's denial of a motion to 

reduce a jury award is reviewed by the Court of Appeals "for abuse of 

discretion using the substantial evidence, shocks the conscience, and 

passion and prejudice standard articulated in precedent." Bunch v. King 

County Dept. of Youth Services, 155 Wn.2d 165, 176, 116 P.3d 381 

(2005). Such deference is based upon the fact that the judge saw the 

witnesses and heard the evidence first hand. Thus, the Trial Court's denial 

of the motion actually strengthens the jury verdict: 

The appellate court does not engage in exactly the same 
review as the trial court because deference and weight are 
also given to the trial court's discretion in denying a new 
trial on a claim of excessive damages. The verdict is 
strengthened by denial of a new trial by the trial court. 
While either the trial court or an appellate court has the 
power to reduce an award or order a new trial based on 
excessive damages, 'appellate review is most narrow and 
restrained' and the appellate court 'rarely exercises this 
power.' 

Washington State Physicians Ins. Exchange & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 

Wn.2d 299, 330, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). The Court of Appeals properly 

applied this standard, which is not disputed by Matichuk, and properly 

concluded that no abuse of discretion had occurred. Indeed, nowhere does 
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Matichuk allege or provide any basis to support that the Trial Court 

abused its discretion. 

Finally, Matichuk suggests that this Court should adopt some 

specific "multiplier" that maximizes the amount of non-economic 

damages that can be awarded in comparison to actual damages, but then 

does not reference what this "multiplier" should be, nor how this Court 

could constitutionally simply place a "cap" on how much a party can 

recover in non-economic damages. No court has suggested that such cap 

exists, nor could or should one be adopted. Matichuk suggest that the 

Court of Appeals in Hill v. GTE Directories Sales Corp., 71 Wn.App. 132, 

856 P.2d 746 (1993) recognized such a "cap," but this is incorrect. 

The court in Hill reviewed a trial court's reduction of a jury 

verdict, thereby implicating a completely different standard of review. 

Matichuk also fail to recognize that the court's affirmation of the trial 

court's reduction was not limited to the size of the award, but also to the 

jury's failure to properly determine the economic damages: "In light of 

the meager evidence and the jury's award of excessive economic damages 

(as discussed earlier), we agree the $410,000 award clearly indicates 

passion or prejudice, or an attempt to award punitive damages." Id. at 

140. This factor was noted by this Court in Bunch v. King County Dept. 
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of Youth Services, supra, 155 Wn.2d at 181 as a specific distinction. The 

awarded economic damages to Pendergrast were precisely the same as the 

uncontested values provided by experts, which have not been challenged.

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